RECEIVED

01-05-2017

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT 2

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

Appeal Nos. 2016AP001956 CR 2016AP001957 CR Circuit Case Nos. 2013CF000453 2013CF001256

v.

DARRIN K. TAYLOR,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPELLANT'S BRIEF AND APPENDIX

Appeal from the Judgment of Conviction and Sentence entered in Kenosha County Circuit Court Honorable Mary Kay Wagner, presiding

SUBMITTED BY:

ATTORNEY CARL W. CHESSHIR State Bar No. 01008915 S101 W34417 Hwy LO Suite B Eagle, Wisconsin 53119 (414) 899-8579 Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

1. Was the evidence presented at trial sufficient to support a jury

verdict of guilty on the charge of causing mental harm to a child

beyond a reasonable doubt?

Trial Court: Yes.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT

Defendant-Appellant, Darrin Taylor believes that no case law

directly addresses the issue presented in this case and therefore oral

argument is necessary.

STATEMENT REGARDING PUBLICATION

This case involves the determination of the evidence required for the

State to prove the offense of causing mental harm to a child beyond a

reasonable doubt. Appellant, Darrin Taylor submits that the opinion would

be instructive to all circuit courts and therefore has statewide implications

and that publication is advisable.

iii

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A Criminal Complaint was filed on April 24, 2013 which alleged one count of First Degree Sexual assault of a Child under the age of 12, pursuant to Wisconsin Statutes § 948.02(1)(b); one count of First Degree Child Sexual Assault – Contact with a Child under age 13, pursuant to Wisconsin Statutes § 948.02(1)(e); and two counts of Felony Bail Jumping, pursuant to Wisconsin Statutes § 946.49(1)(b) against Darrin Taylor ("Taylor"). (R. 1; Case No. 2013CF000453).

An initial appearance was held on April 24, 2013. (R. 67). The court set cash bail at \$25,000.00. (*Id.* at 4). Taylor waived his right to have a preliminary hearing within 10 days. (*Id.* at 8).

On May 7, 2013 a preliminary hearing was held (R. 68). Taylor waived his right to a preliminary hearing. (*Id.* at 3-7). A Preliminary Hearing Waiver form was also filed with the court. (R. 10). The court ordered the case to be bound over for trial. (R. 68; p. 7). The State filed and Information. (R. 8). Taylor acknowledged receiving the Information and waived it reading. (R. 68; p. 7). Taylor also moved the court to modify his bail. (*Id.* at 8). The court denied the motion. (*Id.* at 12).

An Arraignment was held on May 24, 2013. (R. 69). Taylor entered a not guilty plea to all counts in the Information. (*Id.* at 3). The State

moved the court for a no contact order while Taylor remained in custody. (*Id.* at 4). The court granted the State's motion as to S. F. and L. B. and any child under the age of eighteen. (*Id.* at 10). Taylor also moved the court to modify his bond. (*Id.* at 3). The court denied the bond motion. (*Id.* at 12).

On July 2, 2013 the State and Taylor agreed to adjourn the pretrial hearing. (R. 70).

On August 12, 2013, the court set a date for a bond hearing. (R. 71). The court heard Taylor's bond motion on August 16, 2013. (R. 72). The court denied the motion. (*Id.* at 12). The court also set a jury status date. (*Id.* at 4).

Taylor moved the court to allow visitation from his two biological children while he was in custody on September 23, 2013. (R. 73). The court declined to issue an order granting the motion and suggested that the trial court hear the issue. (*Id.* at 6). On September 24, 2013 the trial court heard the same motion and granted Taylor's request. (R. 74; p. 7).

On November 11, 2013 the State and Taylor agreed to adjourn the trial in light of potential new charges being filed. (R. 75).

On November 13, 2013 a Criminal Complaint was filed which alleged one count of Repeated Sexual Assault of a Child, pursuant to Wisconsin Statutes § 948.025(1)(d); one count of Mental Harm to a Child a

Party to a Crime, pursuant to Wisconsin Statutes § 948.04(1) and 939.05; seven counts of Felony Bail Jumping, pursuant to Wisconsin Statutes § 946.49(1)(b); one count of Intimidation of a Victim as Party to a Crime, pursuant to Wisconsin Statutes § 940.44(2) and 939.05; and five counts of Contempt of Court as Party to a Crime, against Darrin Taylor ("Taylor"). (R. 1; Case No. 2013CF001256).

On November 13, 2013 an Initial Appearance was held. (R. 74; Case No. 2013CF001256). Taylor moved to dismiss Count Two, Mental Harm to a Child as Party to a Crime. (*Id.* at 3). The court took the motion under advisement. (*Id.*). The court set cash bail at \$25,000.00 and ordered no contact with L. B., S. F. and S. F.'s father. (*Id.* at 5-6).

A preliminary hearing on Case No. 2013CF001256 was held on November 21, 2013. (R. 75; Case No. 2013CF0012546). Taylor waived his right to a preliminary hearing. (*Id.* at 2-6). A Preliminary Hearing Waiver form was filed with the court. (R. 6; Case No. 2013CF001256).

On December 18, 2013, an arraignment was held. (R. 76; Case No. 2013CF001256). The State had filed an Information. (R. 8; 2013CF001256). Taylor waived the reading of the Information and entered a not guilty plea to the charges in the Information. (R. 76; pp. 3-4; Case No. 2013CF001256).

A status hearing was held on January 30, 2014. (R. 77; Case No. 2013CF001256).

On April 2, 2014 a status hearing was held to set dates. (R. 78; Case No. 2013CF001256).

A motion hearing was scheduled on July 16, 2014. (R. 79; Case No. 2013CF001256). Taylor's motion to allow contact with his two biological children was discussed and the court determined that contact was presently not prohibited resulting in Taylor withdrawing his motion. (*Id.* at 6-8).

On August 4, 2014 a hearing was held on the State's motion for joinder and other acts evidence. (R. 80; Case No. 2013CF001256). The State moved the court to join Cases 2011CF001166, 2013CF000453 and 2013CF001256. (*Id.* at 2). Taylor did not object to the joinder of Cases 2013CF000453 and 2013CF001256. (*Id.* at 13). The court ruled that Case 2011CF001166 should not be joined. (*Id.*). The court withheld a ruling on the other acts motion. (*Id.* at 21).

On September 11, 2014 a status/*Ludwig* hearing was held. (R. 81; Case No. 2014C001256). The court held a colloquy with Taylor in regards to the State's offer to resolve his cases. (*Id.* at 5-8). Taylor rejected the State's offer. (*Id.* at 8).

A jury selection hearing was scheduled for September 15, 2014. (R. 82; Case No. 2013CF001256). However, based on Taylor's motion for a third party defense, the hearing was adjourned. (*Id.* at 15).

On September 18, 2014 a motion hearing was held. (R. 83; Case No. 2013CF001256). At that hearing the court granted Taylor's motion for a third party defense. (*Id.* at 88).

On September 29, 2014 a jury was selected. (R. 84; pp. 9-90; Case No. 2013CF001256). In the afternoon of September 29, 2014 a hearing was held on the admission of confidential information from the DCFS. (R. 85; Case No 2013CF001256).

The jury trial commenced on September 30, 2014. (R. 86; Case No. 2013CF001256). The State filed Amended Informations in both cases. (R. 33; Case No. 2013CF000453 and R. 22; Case No. 2013CF001256). Taylor acknowledged receipt of the Amended Informations, waived their readings and entered not guilty pleas. (R. 86; pp. 4-5; Case No. 2013CF001256). The court instructed the jury and then the jurors heard opening arguments from the district attorney and defense attorney. (*Id.* at 20-106). The jury then heard testimony from the State's witness, L. B. (*Id.* at 114-187).

The jury trial continued on October 1, 2014. (R. 87; Case Mo. 2013CF001256). The jury heard testimony from the following State

witnesses, L. B., Julie McGuire, Dakota Bossingham, Rebecca Matoska-Mentink, Michael Held, S. F., Julie Ortiz, J. F. and Officer Gloria Gonzales. (*Id.* at 6-193).

On October 2, 2014 the jury trial continued. (R. 88; Case No. 2013CF001256). The State rested its case in chief. (*Id.* at 4). Taylor moved to dismiss. (*Id.* at 5). The court queried the State as to its proof on mental harm to a child. (*Id.*). The court held in abeyance a decision on the proof for mental harm to a child which would also affect one count of felony bail jumping. (*Id.* at 10). The court denied the motion to dismiss on the other counts. (*Id.* at 11). The court then held a colloquy with Taylor in regards to his right to remain silent. (*Id.* at 12-15). The jury then heard testimony from the defense witness, Audrey Henry and Taylor. (*Id.* at 18-122). Taylor stipulated to being charged with a felony in Case No. 2011Cf001166 and was out on bond at the time of the new allegations. (*Id.* at 125-26). The court then instructed the jury. (*Id.* at 130-209).

The jury trial continued on October 3, 2014. (R. 89; Case No. 2013CF001256). The jury heard closing arguments from the district attorney and Taylor's attorney. (*Id.* at 16-87). The court then gave the jury its final instructions and swore in the bailiffs. (*Id.* at 87-102). The jury returned its verdict finding Taylor guilty on one count of first degree sexual

assault of a child under the age to twelve; and guilty on one count of felony bail jumping in Case No. 2013CF000453. (*Id.* at 105-106). The jury found Taylor not guilty of first degree sexual assault contact with a child under the age of thirteen and not guilty of one count of felony bail jumping in Case No. 2013CF000453. (*Id.* at 106). In Case No. 2013CF001256 the jury found Taylor guilty on the following: one count of repeated sexual assault of a child; one count of mental harm to a child as party to a crime; seven counts of felony bail jumping; one count of intimidation of a victim; and, five counts of contempt of court. (*Id.* at 106-111). The court polled the jury. (*Id.* at 111-139). The State moved for judgment on the verdicts. (*Id.* at 140). Taylor moved for dismissal of counts two and four in Case No. 2013CF000453. (*Id.*). The court granted Taylor's motion. (*Id.*).

On December 8, 2014 the sentencing hearing was adjourned. (R. 90; Case No. 2013CF001256).

Taylor was sentenced on December 17, 2014. (R. 91; Case No. 2013CF001256). At sentencing, the State agreed to have Case No. 2011CF001166 dismissed and read-in. (*Id.* at 3). The court made a finding that there was substantial evidence indicating mental harm to a child based on the testimony. (*Id.* at 9). The court reviewed the PSI. (*Id.* at 4-7). The court then listened to arguments from the district attorney and defense

counsel, and heard a statement from Taylor. (Id. at 9-42). The court then sentenced Taylor to 25 years initial confinement and 6 years 4 months of extended supervision on Count One in Case No. 2013CF000453; and one year initial confinement and one year extended supervision on Count Three concurrent to Count One in the same case. (*Id.* at 43-44). The court then sentenced Taylor 9 years of initial confinement and 4 years of extended supervision on Count One in Case No. 2013CF001256 to run concurrent to Counts One and Three in Case No. 2013CF000453, (*Id.* at 51); on Count Two in Case No. 2013CF000453, the court sentence Taylor to 2 years of initial confinement and two years of extended supervision consecutive to Counts One and Three in Case No. 2013CF000453. On the seven counts of felony bail jumping in Case No. 2013CF001256, the court sentenced Taylor to one year initial confinement and one year of extended supervision on each count concurrent to Count Two in Case No. 2013CF001256). (Id. at 53). On Count Four in Case No. 2013CF001256 the court sentenced Taylor to 9 months concurrent with Counts One and Three of Case No. 2013CF000453 and Count One of Case No. 2013CF001256. (Id.). On the five counts of party to a crime of contempt of court the court sentenced Taylor to six months consecutive on each count and concurrent with Count Two of Case No. 2013CF001256. (*Id.*).

On September 6, 2016, Taylor filed a post-conviction motion to vacate all but two of the DNA surcharges imposed in Case Nos. 2013CF000453 and 2013CF001256. (R. 66; Case No. 2013CF001256). A hearing on the motion was held on September 28, 2016 where the court granted the motion. (R. 67; Case No. 2013CF001256).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On April 14, 2013, S.F. reported to her mother that about three to four weeks earlier Taylor had touched her vagina with his tongue. (R. 1; Criminal Complaint; Case No. 2013CF000453). During a forensic interview with Julie McGuire, S.F. also disclosed that Taylor had squeezed her butt. (*Id.*). At the time of these alleged offenses, Taylor had been released on bond in Case No. 2011CF001166. (*Id.*).

In November, 2013, S.F.'s father told the police that S.F. reported to him that Taylor had inappropriately touched her on various times prior to the incident reported on April 14, 2013. (R. 2; Criminal Complaint; Case No. 2013CF001256). A second forensic interview was conducted by Julie McGuire in which S.F. further disclosed additional instances where Taylor inappropriately touched her. (*Id.*). Records from the Kenosha County Detention Center revealed that Taylor was visited by S.F. and her mother on May 14, 21 and 28, 2013, and on June 4, 2013. (*Id.*). At the time of the visits, Taylor was released on bond in Case No. 2011CF001166 and also subject to contempt of court in Case No. 2013CF001256. (*Id.*).

S.F.'s father testified at trial that he observed that when S.F. was at his house for visitation that she did not want to return to her mother's house; that at times he would find S.F. crying; and that S.F. was scared at

night and did not want to sleep alone. (R. 87; pp. 160-61; Case No. 2013CF001256).

ARGUMENT

I. THE FACTS PRESENTED AT TRIAL FAILED TO SUPPORT THE JURY VERDICT OF GUILTY ON THE CHARGE OF CAUSING MENTAL HARM TO A CHILD IN CASE NO. 2013CF001256

The standard of review for sufficiency of the evidence to support a jury verdict is narrow: "Appellate courts in Wisconsin will sustain a jury verdict if there is any credible evidence to support it." *Morden v. Continental AG*, 2000 WI 51, ¶ 38, 235 Wis.2d 325, 611 N.W.2d 659. Thus, "if the evidence gives rise to more than one reasonable inference, [the court must] accept the particular inference reached by the jury." *Id.* at ¶ 39. Similarly, the court must accept the jury's inference even if stronger and more convincing evidence supports a contradictory inference. *Id.* In such cases, this court will not overturn the jury's verdict unless 'there is such a complete failure of proof that the verdict must be based on speculation.'" *Id.* (quoting *Coryell v. Conn.*, 88 Wis.2d 310, 315, 276 N.W.2d 723 (1979)).

To prove mental harm to a child, the State is required to show that:

(1) Taylor exercised permanent or temporary control of S.F.; (2) S.F. suffered mental harm; (3) Taylor cause mental harm to S.F. which requires that Taylor's conduct was a substantial factor in producing the mental

harm; (4) Taylor caused mental harm by conduct which demonstrated substantial disregard for the mental well-being of S.F.; and (5) S.F. had not attained the age of 18 years at the time the alleged harm was caused. *See* Wis. Stat. § 948.04 and WIS JI—CRIMINAL 2116.

Wis. Stat. § 948.01(2) defines mental harm as "Mental harm" means substantial harm to a child's psychological or intellectual functioning which may be evidenced by a substantial degree of certain characteristics of the child including, but not limited to, anxiety, depression, withdrawal or outward aggressive behavior. "Mental harm" may be demonstrated by a substantial and observable change in behavior, emotional response or cognition that is not within the normal range for the child's age and stage of development.

Taylor contends that the evidence adduced at trial failed to satisfy all of the elements of the offense of mental harm to a child. Specifically, that the State failed to show that any observable changes in S.F.'s behavior was not within the normal range for S.F.'s age and stage of development. In addition, the State failed to show that Taylor's conduct and/or conduct that he aided and abetted, constituted a substantial factor causing any observable changes in S.F.'s behavior.

When the State rested its case in chief, Taylor moved to dismiss. (R. 88; pp. 5-10; Case No. 2013CF001256). The court held as follows:

And the court is going to hold in abeyance decision regarding adequate proof of count two mental harm to a child, and that would also include count three. If we can't prove count two, can't prove count three. So I'll hold that in abeyance perhaps for motions after verdict if we get to that. But I do think there are some issues concerning how do you prove mental harm to a child.

We all have our opinions of what hurts kids. Some people think it's television. Some people think its rock and roll. And some people think it's, you know, other things. So it's just, I think there is – there can be an issue there, but we'll see.

(*Id.* at 10).

At sentencing, the court revisited the issue and stated, "The court does believe that there was accurate – substantial evidence indicating the mental harm to a child based on the repeated sexual assaults and the intimidation, which I think all caused mental harm based on the testimony. So I am done ruling on that issue." (R. 91; pp. 8-9; Case No. 2014CF001256).

The jury heard testimony from S.F.'s mother that S.F. had been living a family unit with Taylor and her mother for about 4 to 5 years. (R. 86; p. 117; Case No. 2013CF001256). S.F.'s mother told the jury that in the summer of 2013, after Taylor was incarcerated and no longer in the family home that S.F. no longer wanted to live with her mother and wanted

to go live with her father. (*Id.* at 160.). S.F.'s mother further testified that S.F. would wake up in the middle of the night very upset; that S.F. used to cry a lot; and, that S.F. wanted to go live with her father. (*Id.* at 161-62).

S.F.'s mother also testified that she took S.F. to a doctor for the bad dreams that S.F. was having. (*Id.* at 171.). S.F.'s mother told the jury that the doctor told her that "sometimes that happens when you are twelve or thirteen years old." (*Id.*).

S.F.'s father testified at trial that he observed that when S.F. was at his house for visitation that she did not want to return to her mother's house; that at times he would find S.F. crying; and that S.F. was scared at night and did not want to sleep alone. (R. 87; pp. 160-61; Case No. 2013CF001256). S.F.'s father further testified that S.F. was attending school and doing okay in school. (*Id.* at 168).

The State argued that expert testimony was not required to prove the elements of mental harm to a child. (R. 91; pp. 7-8; Case No. 2013CF001256). Taylor does not dispute this argument; however the State is not relieved from its burden of proof beyond a reasonable doubt.

In *In the Interest of H.Q. and P.Q.*, 152 Wis. 2d 701, 449 N.W.2d 75 (Ct. App. 1989), the court held that the evidence was not sufficient to prove emotional damage in the absence of expert testimony. *Id.* at 78. In that

case, the court was interpreting emotional damage to children within the context of the injunction statute Wis. Stat. § 813.122. *In the Interest of H.Q. and P.Q.* involves a different statute than mental harm to a child; however, Taylor submits that the case is instructive.

In *In the Interest of H.Q. and P.Q.* the evidence of the children's behavior was by testimony of the children's mother and an aunt; in this case, evidence of S.F.'s behavior is by testimony of S.F.'s mother and father. The court in *In the Interest of H.Q. and P.Q.* found that the testimony failed to prove emotional harm in the absence of expert testimony. *In the Interest of H.Q. and P.Q.* at 78. Similarly, the testimony of S.F.'s parents fails to prove mental harm without expert testimony.

In *In the Interest of H.Q. and P.Q.* 'Emotional damage means harm exhibited by "severe anxiety, depression, withdrawal or outward aggressive behavior" or a combination of them. Sec. 813.122(1)(e), Stats.'; in this case, mental harm is evidenced by anxiety, depression, withdrawal or outward aggressive behavior. The court in *In the Interest of H.Q. and P.Q.* found that the trial court "implicitly found that emotional damage had occurred" and that that finding was clearly erroneous. *Id.* Similarly, in this case the jury could only make an implied finding that mental harm occurred and therefore must also be found insufficient.

Finally, *In the Interest of H.Q. and P.Q.* was a civil case requiring a much lower burden of proof than the State's burden of proof in the present case.

To establish mental harm, the State is required to prove that the observable change in behavior is not within the normal range for the child's age and stage of development. Wis. Stat. § 948.01(2). The record is void of any evidence that S.F.'s behavior was outside of her age and stage of development. The only evidence the jury heard in this regard was that S.F.'s dreams were determined by a doctor to be something "that happens when you are twelve or thirteen years old." (*Id.*). Clearly, S.F.'s dreams were *within* her normal range. As such, the evidence failed to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that S.F. suffered mental harm.

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