RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN 03-02-2017

COURT OF APPEAL CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT II

Case Nos. 2016AP1956-CR, 2016AP1957-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

DARRIN K. TAYLOR,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN THE KENOSHA COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE MARY KAY WAGNER, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Wisconsin Attorney General

SCOTT E. ROSENOW Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1083736

Attorneys for Respondent

Wisconsin Department of Justice Post Office Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 (608) 266-3539 (608) 266-9594 (Fax) rosenowse@doj.state.wi.us

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

ARGUMENT

On appeal, Taylor argues that the evidence at his trial was insufficient to support his convictions for the mental-harm count and the related bail-jumping count in case number 2013CF1256. (Taylor Br. 12–19.) His argument is unavailing for the following reasons.

The evidence was sufficient to support Taylor's conviction for causing mental harm to a child as a party to the crime and his related bail-jumping conviction.

A. Controlling legal principles.

When determining whether evidence at trial was sufficient to support a conviction, an appellate court "consider[s] the evidence in the light most favorable to the State and reverse[s] the conviction only where the evidence 'is so lacking in probative value and force that no trier of fact, acting reasonably, could have found guilt beyond a reasonable doubt." *State v. Smith*, 2012 WI 91, ¶ 24, 342 Wis. 2d 710, 817 N.W.2d 410 (quoting *State v. Poellinger*, 153 Wis. 2d 493, 507, 451 N.W.2d 752 (1990)). "Therefore, this court will uphold the conviction if there is any reasonable hypothesis that supports it." *Id.* (citation omitted).

A court reviews de novo whether evidence was sufficient to support a conviction. Smith, 342 Wis. 2d 710, \P 24. "[A]n appellate court must consider the totality of the

evidence when conducting a sufficiency of the evidence inquiry." $Id. \ \P \ 36$.

When a defendant's insufficient-evidence claim argues that his conduct fell outside the scope of a criminal statute, the defendant is raising an issue of statutory interpretation, which is subject to de novo review. State v. Wille, 2007 WI App 27, ¶ 4, 299 Wis. 2d 531, 728 N.W.2d 343. "[T]he purpose of statutory interpretation is to determine what the statute means so that it may be given its full, proper, and intended effect." State ex rel. Kalal v. Circuit Court for Dane Cty., 2004 WI 58, ¶ 44, 271 Wis. 2d 633, 681 N.W.2d 110. Statutory interpretation begins with the statute's language. Id. ¶ 45. A court does not rewrite a statute to add words or requirements the Legislature did not include. State v. Simmelink, 2014 WI App 102, ¶ 11, 357 Wis. 2d 430, 855 N.W.2d 437.

B. The evidence was sufficient to support Taylor's conviction for causing mental harm to a child as a party to the crime.

Taylor challenges his conviction for causing mental harm to S.F. as a party to the crime in violation of Wis. Stat. § 948.04. (Taylor Br. 12–19.) This statute provides that "[w]hoever is exercising temporary or permanent control of a child and causes mental harm to that child by conduct which demonstrates substantial disregard for the mental well-being of the child is guilty of a Class F felony." Wis. Stat. § 948.04(1).

To prove that a defendant violated section 948.04, the State must prove that (1) the defendant was exercising temporary or permanent control of the victim, (2) the victim suffered mental harm, (3) the defendant caused mental harm to the victim, (4) the defendant caused mental harm by

conduct that demonstrated substantial disregard for the mental well-being of the victim, and (5) the victim was under age 18 when the alleged harm occurred. Wis. JI-Criminal 2116 (2009).

Another statute defines "mental harm" as follows:

"Mental harm" means substantial harm to a child's psychological or intellectual functioning which may be evidenced by a substantial degree of certain characteristics of the child including, but not limited to, anxiety, depression, withdrawal or outward aggressive behavior. "Mental harm" may be demonstrated by a substantial and observable change in behavior, emotional response or cognition that is not within the normal range for the child's age and stage of development.

Wis. Stat. § 948.01(2).

Taylor argues that the evidence was insufficient at trial to establish the second and third elements under section 948.04, i.e., that S.F. suffered mental harm and that Taylor caused mental harm. (Taylor Br. 13–18.) His argument is unavailing.

1. The evidence was sufficient to show that S.F. suffered mental harm.

With respect to the second element under Wis. Stat. § 948.04, the evidence was sufficient to show that S.F. suffered mental harm. The State introduced the following three pieces of evidence at trial supporting the charge:

First, during a May 2013 interview with a child protective services investigator, S.F. appeared to feel "very guilty" for Taylor's incarceration and she worried about how

his absence from home would affect her mother and siblings. (87:147.)

Second, S.F.'s mother testified that she noticed a change in S.F.'s behavior in the summer of 2013. (86:160.) During that time, S.F. told her mother that she wanted to live with her biological father instead of her mother. (86:160.) S.F. also "would wake up in the middle of the night very upset" and "was always crying." (86:161, 162). During that time, S.F. also had nightmares that a clown was chasing her, although apparently she had been having that nightmare since before Taylor began sexually assaulting her. (86:139; 87:27–28, 145–46.)

Third, similar to S.F.'s mother's testimony, S.F.'s father testified that he observed a change in S.F.'s behavior in the summer and fall of 2013. (87:159–60.) When S.F. went to her father's house, she no longer wanted to return to her mother's house. (87:160.) S.F. became afraid of the dark and did not want to sleep alone. (87:161.) "At times" her father "would find her crying." (87:160). Her father testified that she was "deeply affected by all this." (87:168).

Taylor argues that, under M.Q.~v.~Z.Q., 152 Wis. 2d 701, 449 N.W.2d 75 (Ct. App. 1989), the evidence was insufficient to establish mental harm. (Taylor Br. 15–17.) But M.Q. is distinguishable.

In *M.Q.*, the court of appeals determined that the circuit court erred by granting an injunction against a father because it had erroneously determined that the father caused emotional damage to his children. *M.Q.*, 152 Wis. 2d at 708–09. The relevant statute defined "emotional damage" as "harm to a child's psychological or intellectual functioning which is exhibited by severe anxiety, depression, withdrawal or outward aggressive behavior, or a combination of those

behaviors." *Id.* at 704 (quoting Wis. Stat. § 813.122(1)(e)). The court of appeals concluded that the record contained no evidence that the children "exhibited such behavior. That one or both of the children were 'upset' or 'concerned' about their father does not, in the absence of expert testimony, equal severe anxiety or depression." *Id.* at 709. "That a child became upset and cried twice in six months because of a parent's acts and dislikes being with the parent when he or she has been drinking is insufficient for a finding of emotional damage, in the absence of expert testimony." *Id.*

M.Q. is distinguishable from Taylor's case because the evidence of S.F.'s emotional harm was much greater than the evidence of the children's emotional damage in *M.Q.* Unlike the children in *M.Q.*, S.F. cried often, developed a fear of the dark, did not want to sleep alone, awoke during the night very upset, had nightmares, and no longer wanted to live at her mother's home where Taylor had been living.

Taylor further argues that, under M.Q., expert testimony was required to establish S.F.'s mental harm. (Taylor Br. 16.) But "expert testimony is required only if the issue to be decided by the jury is beyond the general knowledge and experience of the average juror." State v. Perkins, 2004 WI App 213, ¶ 16, 277 Wis. 2d 243, 689 N.W.2d 684 (citation omitted). "[R]equiring expert testimony . . . represents an extraordinary step, one to be taken only when 'unusually complex or esoteric issues are before the jury'" Id. (first bracket and second ellipsis added) (citation omitted). Courts have held, for example, that expert testimony was not "required in every case" to establish mental illness. Id. ¶ 21.

Here, Taylor has not explained why the issue of S.F.'s mental harm was so complex or esoteric that it required expert testimony. And in any event, as noted above, the

evidence of S.F.'s mental harm was far stronger than the nonexistent evidence of the children's emotional harm in M.Q.

Taylor contends that *M.Q.* "was a civil case requiring a much lower burden of proof than the State's burden of proof in the present case." (Taylor Br. 17.) But, that one party could not satisfy a lower standard at trial in *M.Q.* with virtually no evidence does not mean that the State could not meet a higher burden in Taylor's trial with much more evidence. And Taylor's argument overlooks his burden on appeal. The State is not required to prove a defendant's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt on appeal. *Poellinger*, 153 Wis. 2d at 503. Rather, *the defendant* "bears a heavy burden" on appeal when challenging the sufficiency of the evidence to support a conviction. *State v. Klingelhoets*, 2012 WI App 55, ¶ 10, 341 Wis. 2d 432, 814 N.W.2d 885 (citations omitted).

Taylor further argues that the evidence of S.F.'s mental harm was insufficient because the State did not establish that her new behavior was outside of the normal range for her age. (Taylor Br. 17.) But the State was not required to establish that point. The State was required to prove that S.F. suffered mental harm. Wis. Stat. § 948.04(1). The relevant statute provides that mental harm "may be evidenced by a substantial degree of certain characteristics of the child *including*, but not limited to, anxiety, depression, withdrawal or outward aggressive behavior." Wis. Stat. § 948.01(2) (emphases added). Mental harm also "may be demonstrated by a substantial and observable change in behavior, emotional response or cognition that is not within the normal range for the child's age and stage of development." Id. (emphasis added). "Use of the word 'may' creates a presumption that the statute is permissive. This general principle can be rebutted if construing 'may' as mandatory is necessary to reflect legislative intent."

 $McGuire\ v.\ McGuire$, 2003 WI App 44, ¶ 26, 260 Wis. 2d 815, 660 N.W.2d 308 (citation omitted).

That presumption applies here and, thus, section 948.01 does not require the State to prove mental harm in any particular way. This statute's use of the word "may" and the phrase "including, but not limited to" shows that the specified behaviors are a non-exhaustive list of ways in which the State could establish mental harm. The State is not required to prove one or more of those listed behaviors. Further, although the phrase "not within the normal range for the child's age and stage of development" modifies "cognition" and perhaps modifies "behavior" and "emotional response" as well, it does *not* modify "anxiety, depression, withdrawal or outward aggressive behavior." *See* Wis. Stat. § 948.01(2). For these reasons, the State was not required to prove that S.F. exhibited behavior outside of the normal range for her age and development.

In sum, the State introduced sufficient evidence to establish S.F.'s mental harm.

2. The evidence was sufficient to show that Taylor's conduct caused S.F.'s mental harm.

With respect to the third element under Wis. Stat. § 948.04, the State introduced sufficient evidence to prove that Taylor caused S.F.'s mental harm. The mental-harm charge alleged that S.F. suffered mental harm as a result of Taylor's communications with her while he was in jail after being arrested for sexually assaulting her. (87:12; 89:48–49.)

The State introduced the following evidence at trial. Taylor first called S.F.'s mother while he was in jail in April 2013. (87:174.) In a May 2013 phone call, Taylor asked S.F.'s

mother for her and her children to help him and talk to "the courts." (86:134–36.) In another May 2013 phone call, Taylor complained to S.F.'s mother that S.F. did not want to talk to him and did not like him. (86:143–45, 149.) During that same call, Taylor talked to S.F. and her siblings via speaker phone. (86:145.) Taylor asked S.F.'s mother over the phone to bring her children to visit him in jail. (86:146, 152.)

S.F. and her mother visited Taylor in jail at least twice in May 2013 and at least once in June 2013. (86:148, 150, 152; 87:179–81.) The first time that S.F. visited Taylor in jail, he asked her "to help Daddy" and "to make sure everybody knows that Daddy's not bad." (88:77.) Taylor testified that he had asked S.F. to help him get out of jail. (88:118.)

Further, Taylor wrote a letter to S.F. in June 2013 in which he wished her a happy birthday and stated that he would "get her something fun." (88:88.) Taylor also called one of his sisters from jail and asked her to tell S.F. happy birthday for him. (88:80.) He further asked his sister to tell S.F. and her siblings that he loved and missed them. (88:81.)

In one phone call, Taylor told S.F.'s mother that she and S.F. should say that he had not done anything "bad." (86:147–48.) S.F.'s mother told S.F. to say that "it" was a dream. (88:85–86.) When S.F. said to her mother that she was unsure whether it had been a dream, her mother raised her voice and said that it had been a dream. (88:86.) In a phone call with Taylor, S.F.'s mother blamed S.F. for Taylor's incarceration and for breaking up their family. (86:160; 88:117.) S.F.'s mother was unsure whether S.F. had overheard that particular phone call, but S.F. did overhear a conversation that her mother had had with Taylor over the phone. (86:160; 87:148.)

The foregoing evidence was sufficient to show that Taylor caused S.F.'s mental harm. As explained above, S.F.'s behavioral changes in summer and fall 2013 showed that she was experiencing mental harm. The jury reasonably inferred that Taylor's communications with S.F. and her mother during May and June of that year caused the mental harm. Significantly, Taylor sexually assaulted S.F. several times from 2011 through March 2013. (86:27, 38; 89:105, 107.)² About two months after the final assault, Taylor began communicating with S.F. over the phone from jail, and her mother began taking her to visit him in jail. Although Taylor thought that S.F. did not want to talk to him, he asked her to exculpate him and help to get him out of jail. S.F.'s behavior changed a short time later. For instance, she began crying often and no longer wanted to live at her mother's house where Taylor had been living. The nature and timing of S.F.'s behavioral changes indicate that Taylor's communications with her from jail caused her mental harm.

Taylor argues that the evidence was insufficient to show that his conduct caused S.F.'s mental harm because several different factors may have caused that harm. (Taylor Br. 17–18.) His argument is unpersuasive for two reasons. First, an actor's conduct causes a particular result if his conduct is a substantial factor in producing that result, even if it is not the sole or primary factor. *State v. Miller*, 231 Wis. 2d 447, 456–57, 605 N.W.2d 567 (Ct. App. 1999). Taylor's communications with S.F. from jail were a substantial factor in causing her mental harm as explained above.

_

² Taylor does not challenge those convictions on appeal.

Second, "when faced with a record of historical facts which supports more than one inference, an appellate court must accept and follow the inference drawn by the trier of fact unless the evidence on which that inference is based is incredible as a matter of law." *Poellinger*, 153 Wis. 2d at 506–07 (citing *Jackson v. Virginia*, 443 U.S. 307, 326 (1979); *State v. Wilson*, 149 Wis. 2d 878, 894, 440 N.W.2d 534 (1989)). Here, the evidence at trial supported the inference that Taylor caused S.F. mental harm by communicating with her from jail. Taylor does not argue that the evidence on which that inference is based is incredible as a matter of law, nor can he. This Court must accept that inference.

In sum, the evidence was sufficient to establish the mental-harm count's two elements that Taylor challenges on appeal.

C. The evidence was sufficient to support Taylor's related conviction for felony bail jumping.

Taylor argues that because the evidence was insufficient to support his conviction for causing mental harm to S.F., it was insufficient to support his related bailjumping conviction. (Taylor Br. 18–19.) He is wrong. A sufficiency of the evidence challenge to a bail-jumping conviction fails if it depends on a losing argument that the evidence was insufficient to support a conviction for the underlying crime. See State v. Griffin, 220 Wis. 2d 371, 385–86, 584 N.W.2d 127 (Ct. App. 1998). Here, because the evidence was sufficient to support Taylor's mental-harm conviction, it was sufficient to support his related bailjumping conviction.

CONCLUSION

The State respectfully requests this Court to affirm Taylor's judgment of conviction.